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Khojaly:
The Moment of Truth

by Tatul Hakobyan
Excerpts from Tatul Hakobyan’s book 

Green and Black: Artsakh Diary, 
regarding the events of February 25-26, 1992 in Khojaly

As military operations between Nagorno 
Karabakh and Azerbaijan continued, sev-
eral countries and organizations offered 

their mediation in settling the conflict, and in 
working out a truce first of all. Iran was especially 
active. The OSCE and Russia began showing a se-
rious interest as well.

On February 25, 1992 Yerevan launched a po-
litical initiative. President Levon Ter-Petrossian 
appealed to the heads of 14 states asking to pre-
vent further escalation of the situation which 
would only lead to a full-scale war. “The heads of 
states and international organizations should re-
strain Azerbaijan by consistently condemning the 
militarization of that country and any actions that 
might upset the relative balance of powers in the 
region… as well as influence the leaders of Rus-
sia and the CIS to hinder Azerbaijan by all means 
from obtaining and using CIS armaments.” The 
Armenian leader stressed that “we view the Nago-
rno Karabakh issue as an internal political conflict 
which should be solved exclusively through nego-
tiations between the Azerbaijani government and 
the newly-elected leadership of Nagorno Karabakh, 
bearing in mind that Armenia has no territorial 
claims on Azerbaijan.”

Ter-Petrossian urged the CIS, the OSCE, the UN, 
the European Union, and other organizations in-
terested in establishing stable peace in the region 
to expedite the steps aimed at creating an efficient 
mediation mechanism for the Nagorno Karabakh 
conflict that would result in designing a compre-
hensive peace plan supported by all the interested 
parties. The Armenian leader emphasized that 

“Turkey should continue to maintain its neutral-
ity and try to alter Azerbaijan’s discrepant stance 
toward Armenia by using its good offices with the 
Azerbaijani government and political forces.” In ex-
change “Armenia will use its influence on Nagorno 
Karabakh to persuade its leadership into unilateral-
ly ceasing military operations for 24 hours effective 
the moment the Azerbaijani government assumes 
the obligation to halt military operations in the re-
gion for the same period of time.”

Armenian special envoy at the time David 
Shahnazaryan says that at first the West, and the 
United States in particular, didn’t show serious 
interest in mediation. “Their policy at the time 
differed substantially from their present policy. 
They were not ready or even didn’t want to assume 
any independent or active role. Their mission lim-
ited itself to the activity within the Minsk Group. 
At the time Russia was more active than the OSCE 
format in two ways – through the ministry of de-
fense and the ministry of foreign affairs,” Shahn-
azaryan says.

However, the high-level Armenian-Azerbaijani 
meetings and numerous intermediary missions 
and visits were unable to prevent bloodshed be-
tween the two neighbouring peoples. Moreover, 
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strange as it may sound, the most tragic events 
would usually take place at times of active interna-
tional mediation. One such instance was Khojaly; 
another was Maragha.

“THE MOMENT OF TRUTH”
“The first casualty when war comes is truth.” 

These words uttered by a US senator following 
World War I might be also applied to the Karabakh 
war and, in particular, to Khojaly. What really hap-
pened in the second-largest Azerbaijani settlement 
in Nagorno Karabakh, Khojaly, and the adjacent 
territories on February 25-26, 1992 when the civil-
ian population fled to Aghdam through the corri-
dor provided by the Karabakh forces remains one 
of the most debatable and unclarified issues of the 
Karabakh war. At least two things are clear – the 
Karabakh forces left a corridor, and the civilian 
population suffered and a tragedy occurred.

When in 1994 Russian journalist Andrey Karau-
lov, the host of the TV program The Momemt of 
Truth asked then-Chairman of the State Defence 
Committee of Nagorno Karabakh Robert Ko-
charyan about the Khojaly tragedy, he responded, 

“I would put next to this tragedy a series of other 
tragedies that would perhaps surpass the Khojaly 
tragedy in scale. These are the Sumgait and the 
Baku massacres, the depopulation of 28 Armenian 
villages, and the tragedy of the village of Maragha.”

“But, apparently, Khojaly requires a separate ex-
planation. That is to say, this was the village that 
found itself in the thick of military operations. As I 
see it, the warring parties should be very careful in 
using human settlements for military purposes and 
this is exactly what had happened in Khojaly. There 
were four GRAD flamethrowers stationed inside the 
village which were systematically firing upon Step-
anakert. And when a place turns into a position 
for firing GRAD missiles then, naturally, it draws 
enemy fire. For that reason a situation emerged in 
Khojaly where heavy battles for the settlement took 
place and, the fact was, during these battles the civil-
ian population suffered,” Kocharyan said.

When British journalist Thomas de Vaal asked 
Serge Sargsyan to tell him about the seizure of 
Khojaly the Armenian minister of defense re-
sponded, “We prefer not to talk about that out 

loud.” As for the number of losses, Sargsyan in-
sisted that many things had been exaggerated and 
the retreating Azerbaijanis had manifested strong 
military resistance. “But I think that the princi-
pal issue was completely different. Before Khojaly, 
Azerbaijanis thought that they could trifle with us; 
they thought Armenians were incapable of raising 
a hand against a civilian population. We were able 
to break this stereotype. This is what happened. 
And also we must take into consideration that 
among these men there were those who had es-
caped from the Baku and the Sumgait massacres,” 
Sargsyan said.

In order to lend credence to assertions that the 
Karabakh forces had opened frontal fire on the 
fleeing civilian population and the Azerbaijani 
special platoon accompanying them from the Ar-
menian village of Nakhichevanik, Thomas de Vaal 
quoted what Police Major Valery Babayan had told 
American reporter Paul Quin-Judge. Babayan had 
expressed the view that the main motive for these 
events was personal vengeance and that many of 
the participants of the attack on Khojaly “were 
from Sumgait and other places like that.”

Samvel Babayan, who was at the center of the 
events, has a completely different interpretation. 

“During the Khojaly operation I was in charge of 
holding the Aghdam front and providing for a secure 
corridor along the river current so that the civilians 
could exit, and I accomplished that mission. The cor-
ridor was provided, but a strange thing happened. 
We were attacked from the direction of Aghdam. 
The population was supposed to pass through our 
positions and enter Aghdam. Among the Azerbai-
jani forces in Aghdam, the impression emerged that 
the Armenians were making a sally. The violence 
was committed by the Azerbaijani forces, whether 
wittingly or not, I don’t know. We did not attempt at 

“I would put next to this tragedy a series of 
other tragedies that would perhaps surpass 
the Khojaly tragedy in scale. These are 
the Sumgait and the Baku massacres, the 
depopulation of 28 Armenian villages, and 
the tragedy of the village of Maragha.”
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the destruction of the population. Generally, during 
the war we had always allowed the civilian popu-
lation to leave. We were in a position to block the 
roads and annihilate 60,000 people in Kelbajar, but 
we purposefully postponed military operations and 
provided free passage. It was the same road that we 
had taken under our control in one stroke in 1994.”

The assertions that for several successive days 
the Karabakh forces had warned the civilian popu-
lation of Khojaly to leave and had provided a cor-
ridor to this end have been confirmed by Azerbai-
jani sources as well.

Khojaly resident Salman Abbasov consequently 
complained, “A few days before those tragic events 
the Armenians had warned us many times over the 
radio that they were planning to seize the city and 
urged us to leave it. For a long time helicopters had 
been flying into Khojaly and it was not clear if any-
one was concerned about our fate. Virtually, we had 
not received any help. Moreover, when there was a 
chance to evacuate the women, children, and the el-
derly, we were being persuaded not to leave.”

In the early spring of 2005 Azerbaijani reporter 
Eynulla Fatulayev visited Khojaly. After returning 
to Baku he wrote in an article entitled “They had 
time to help the cattle but not the humans.” “A few 
years ago I met with refugees from Khojaly tempo-
rarily sheltered in Naftalan. They openly acknowl-
edged that for a few days before the attack Arme-
nians had continuously warned the population over 
loudspeakers about the imminent operation and 
asked civilians to leave the encircled city through a 
humanitarian corridor along the Karkar River. Ac-
cording to refugees from Khojaly, they used the cor-
ridor and the Armenian soldiers on the far bank 
didn’t open fire on them. Some soldiers from the 
detachments of the Popular Front had for unknown 
reasons evacuated some of the Khojaly residents to-
ward Nakhichevanik, which was under control of 
the Askeran Armenian regiment.”

With the help of the local administration of As-
keran, the reporter familiarized himself with the 
locality, walking through the areas that Khojaly 
residents had passed through. “After familiarizing 
myself with the geography of the area I can say for 
sure that the assumptions about the absence of a 
corridor are groundless. There was, in fact, a cor-

ridor, otherwise the residents of Khojaly, completely 
encircled and cut from the outside world, could not 
have broken through the circle and gotten out. For 
unknown reasons some of the Khojaly residents 
were directed toward Nakhichevanik. It looks like 
the detachments of the Popular Front aimed not at 
rescuing the residents of Khojaly but at bloodshed on 
the path to dethroning Mutalibov,” Fatulayev wrote.

During an interview with Azerbaijani president 
Ayaz Mutalibov one month after the Khojaly trage-
dy, Czech reporter Dana Mazalova put the follow-
ing question to him: “What would you say about 
the Khojaly events, after which you resigned? At the 
time, corpses of people from Khojaly were discov-
ered not far from Aghdam. Some one had shot them 
in the legs beforehand to prevent them from running 
away. Afterwards they were axed. On February 29th 
my colleagues filmed them. When we next filmed on 
March 2 nd these corpses had been scalped. What 
kind of strange game was that?” Mutalibov then 
said, “As the rescued residents of Khojaly say, all 
that was organized to create grounds for my resig-
nation. I don’t think that the Armenians, who had 
manifested a clear and knowledgeable approach to 
such situations, would have allowed Azerbaijanis to 
obtain evidence that tied them to fascist acts.”

“If I declare that it was the fault of the Azerbaijani 
opposition I could be blamed for slander. But the 
overall picture of the conclusions is as follows: the 
Armenians had, in any case, provided a corridor to 
let the civilians escape. Why then would they shoot? 
Moreover, in the vicinity of Aghdam where at the 
time there was sufficient force present to assist peo-
ple? Or they could have just agreed that the civilians 
leave… The Aghdam detachment was located near-
by and was obliged to seriously follow the develop-
ment of events. As soon as Khojaly was surrounded 
by tanks it was necessary to immediately lead the 
civilians out. Earlier I had given similar orders re-
garding Shushi – to evacuate women and children 

“It looks like the detachments of the 
Popular Front aimed not at rescuing the 
residents of Khojaly but at bloodshed on 
the path to dethroning Mutalibov.”
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and to leave only men in the city. It’s one of the laws 
of war – civilians must be rescued. My conduct was 
appropriate and unambiguous – I gave such orders, 
but why they weren’t followed in Khojaly is not clear 
to me,” Mutalibov said.

In succeeding years as well Mutalibov continued 
to insist, with some corrections, that Armenians had 
left a corridor for the civilian population to leave.

“In the evening of February 25 th the late Minister 
of the Interior Tofik Kerimov reported to me on what 
had happened, but without details. He said that sev-
eral hundred people had been shot in Khojaly itself. 
The first thing I did at the time was to telephone the 
leader of Nagorno Karabakh, a certain Mkrtchyan. 
I didn’t know him, had never seen him but I knew 
his name. I asked him angrily how it was possible 
to shoot nearly a thousand civilians in Khojaly. He 
responded word-for-word as follows: ‘It’s nonsense! 
We didn’t shoot anyone in Khojaly. When we took 
Khojaly, the residents had already left, since we had 
opened a corridor for them. Some of the residents are 
still there; they are staying in the building of the vo-
cational school. We feed them, though we too have a 
shortage of food.’ I didn’t believe him and asked him 
to call Armen Isagulov, who was the head of the po-
lice department at the time, to the phone. He too told 
me that they had provided a corridor for the residents. 
That is why when I gave an interview then I said that 
I was told that a corridor had been opened for the 
civilian population. But I didn’t assert whether the 
corridor had in fact been provided or not. I just ap-
pealed to the fact of the telephone conversation… By 
the way, it is written in black and white in the report 
by the Memorial Human Rights Center that Elman 
Mamedov had been personally informed of the pro-
vision of the corridor,” Mutalibov said later on.

A few days after the tragedy, Khojaly Mayor El-
man Mamedov acknowledged, “We knew that the 
corridor had been provided for the civilian popula-
tion to leave.”

News of the Khojaly tragedy reached Baku in 
the evening of February 25, 1992 – that is, before 
the Karabakh forces started the military opera-
tions. Neither Minister of the Interior Kerimov nor 
Minister of National Security Huseinov was able 
to identify the source of that disinformation. And 
on the morning of February 26, Ayaz Mutalibov 
telephoned the Speaker of the Nagorno Karabakh 
parliament, Artur Mkrtchyan, and the head of the 
police department, Armen Isagulov, to find out 
what had really happened.

On the evening of February 26, realizing that the 
loss of Khojaly would mean the defeat of Mutali-
bov, the Ministry of the Interior of Azerbaijan re-
leased a statement saying that “the attack by the Ar-
menian guerilla in the direction of Khojaly has been 
repulsed and the Azerbaijani forces have regained 
the control of the city.” But this information was im-
mediately refuted by the information center of the 
Popular Front, which announced that “two trucks 
full of bodies of slain residents of Khojaly have ar-
rived to Aghdam.”

British journalist Thomas de Vaal believes that 
the Khojaly attack began on the night of February 
26 – in commemoration of the anti-Armenian po-
groms in Sumgait that had taken place four years 
earlier in February 1988. “The 366th regiment of 
the Soviet Army supported the Armenians with ar-
moured equipment. They surrounded Khojaly on 
three sides, after which the Armenian soldiers en-
tered the city and suppressed the resistance of the 
local defenders,” de Vaal wrote.

There seem to be some inaccuracies here. First, 
would it have been logical for the Karabakh forc-
es to seize Khojaly in the days of remembrance of 
the Sumgait massacre? Besides, the Sumgait events 
took place on February 27 and 28, so according to 
the logic of “taking revenge” the Karabakh forces 
should have started the attack on Khojaly on the 
night of February 27. The capture of Khojaly was of 
invaluable significance for the Karabakh forces and 
today, years after the cessation of military opera-
tions, assumptions regarding the approximate coin-
cidence of certain dates are beside the point. After 
all, Khojaly and the whole Karabakh conflict was a 
ruthless war in the harshest sense, and who would 
have been thinking about historical parallels?

A few days after the tragedy, Khojaly Mayor 
Elman Mamedov acknowledged, “We knew 
that the corridor had been provided for the 
civilian population  to leave.”
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Furthermore, both Azerbaijani and Armenian 
sources insist that the Karabakh forces had been 
planning the Khojaly attack for an earlier date but 
for some reasons had postponed it.

In mid-February on the eve of his visit to Iran, 
Ayaz Mutalibov ordered the Shushi comman-
dant, Rahim Ghaziyev, to maintain a truce in his 
absence and not to fire in the direction of Step-
anakert. But within hours after his departure to 
Iran, a fierce bombardment of Stepanakert and, in 
particular, the 366 th motorized regiment began. 
In response, the Karabakh forces attacked Khojaly. 
The exchange of fire lasted for a few days – from 
February 14 to February 16.

“Shells rained down on us from Stepanakert. It was 
a nightmare. I gave the order to open fire on Step-
anakert from the GRAD missile system. Our soldiers 
could not fire accurately using the coordinates. Four 
of the GRAD barrels were out of order. One of our 
soldiers climbed up the [Shushi] tower and was tell-
ing us whether the shells had fallen on the military 
camp or not. Suddenly he shouted that several shells 
had hit the camp. Five of the regiment’s armored ve-
hicles were destroyed,” Ghaziyev recalled.

According to Ghaziyev, there was only one 
GRAD system in Shushi at the time that could be 
used during positional battles. “On February 16 we 
received information about preparations for an at-
tack on Khojaly. Our forces stationed in Shushi suc-
cessfully prevented the attack with the help of this 
very Grad system, which we used to bombard the 
enemy positions. On February 25 we again received 
information about another attempt to attack Khoja-
ly. I assure you we didn’t have enough ammunition 
to assist the Khojaly residents and to stop the Arme-
nian attack. We didn’t use the GRAD system at that 
time since a thick fog had floated over Shushi… On 
one of those days I telephoned Mutalibov and in-
formed him of the danger threatening Khojaly. The 
president said that the minister of the interior, To-
fik Kerimov, had assured him that the situation was 
stable. I realize that a trap was set for Mutalibov in 
Khojaly. But it’s not true that I opened fire on Step-
anakert contrary to the president’s orders.”

Before Khojaly the Karabakh forces had already 
had the experience of successful military operations 
in several other locations. The head of the stand-

ing committee on foreign relations of the Nagorno 
Karabakh parliament, Levon Melik-Shahnazarov, 
wrote that military successes in Togh and Sarinshen 
had been followed by victories in Lesnui (Meshali), 
Malibeylii, and Ashaghi Ghushchular (these opera-
tions were planned by Arkady Ter-Tadevosyan; the 
commander in charge was Valery Babayan) and 
that heavy fighting had resulted in the liberation of 
the Stepanakert suburb of Krkzhan.

“It’s hard to overestimate the significance of Kho-
jaly for both the Armenians and the Azerbaijanis. 
Khojaly separated the south of Karabakh from the 
north. Nagorno Karabakh’s only airport was located 
in Khojaly and for the blockaded Artsakh Arme-
nians, it was the sole link to the outside world. And 
finally, Khojaly was also used for bombarding Step-
anakert and other Armenian settlements,” Melik-
Shahnazaryan wrote.

The Khojaly operation was planned and headed 
by the commander of the Karabakh Forces, Arkady 
Ter-Tadevosyan, known as Commandos. The 
Karabakh military units were supposed to enter 
Khojaly from four directions: first from Mehtish-
en, second from Noragyugh, third from Katuk and 
fourth from the vicinity of the airport. A corridor 
for the civilians and the retreating Azerbaijani sol-
diers was left along the Karkar River.

“Besides, some weeks before the attack the Kara-
bakh side had repeatedly warned Baku and the resi-
dents of Khojaly that the city would be attacked. The 
Karabakh forces employed such tactics throughout 
the course of the entire war. This had a dual pur-
pose. First, to spread panic among the residents and 
to make the civilians leave before the military opera-
tions began and, second, the absence of the civilian 
population demoralizes the army, its desire to fight 
withers and the soldiers think above all about not 
getting killed and, if possible, running away. Under 
such circumstances, as the subsequent military op-
erations showed, the Karabakh side suffered unbe-
lievably fewer losses,” Melik-Shahnazaryan wrote.

“When there was a chance to evacuate the 
women, children, and the elderly, we were 
being persuaded not to leave.”
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The Khojaly operation began at 11:00 p.m. on 
February 25, that is, a few hours after Mutalibov 
was informed about the massacre of the civilian 
population of Khojaly. Some two and a half hours 
later it had become clear from the exchange of ra-
dio messages by Azerbaijani radio operators that 
the military were abandoning the city along with 
the civilians. Only one unit fortified its position in 
a five-story building and put up resistance, but by 
4:00 a.m. on February 26 some of them had been 
destroyed and others had surrendered.

Was it possible that reinforcements could have 
been brought up to Khojaly from Aghdam, which 
was, at the time, controlled by military units of the 
Popular Front? In fact, Khojaly was surrounded 
on four sides and from the military standpoint 
its defense was vulnerable. The contacts between 
Khojaly and other settlements in Azerbaijan and 
Aghdam, in particular, were maintained by means 

of helicopters. The last flight to Khojaly before the 
Karabakh forces captured the city took place on 
February 13. According to various estimates, about 
3,000 residents remained in Khojaly as of February 
25 and the commander of the airport emergency 
platoon with its 160 soldiers, Arif Hajiyev, was in 
charge of the defense of the city.

On the other hand, it is impossible to under-
stand why the civilian population was not with-
drawn when the downfall of Khojaly was all too 
obvious to the Azerbaijani side. One of the reasons 
for this was, perhaps, the internal troubled situa-
tion in Azerbaijan. There was no unified military 
command, although the Azerbaijani forces con-
centrated in Aghdam could have rendered assis-
tance to the Khojaly defenders. The following is an 
extract from an interview with Rahim Ghaziyev:

“Why was no assistance rendered to Khojaly resi-
dents in time?”

Azerbaijani cameraman Chingiz Mustafayev shot footage in the 

vicinity of Aghdam first on February 29th and then on March 

2nd. It was his footage that was shown at the extraordinary 

session of the Azerbaijani parliament. The locality where 

Mustafayev had filmed the corpses was under Azerbaijani 

control, or more precisely, under the control of armed units of 

the Popular Front – this can be clearly seen from the footage. It is 

a fact that the corpses had been mutilated before the second time 

Mustafayev filmed on March 2nd. Maps prepared with Grigor 

Hakobyan © 2010 Armenian Reporter.

5165

3925

4092

3598

2575

2047

3521

DILIJAN
national park

  SEVAN
national park

  SEVAN   national    park

KHOSROV
  reservation

SHIKAHOGH
     reservation

    l a k e       S
E

V
A

N

Marmashen Mon.

Khorakert
Mon.

Haghpat Mon.

Kirants Mon.

Makaravank Mon.

Khoranashat
Mon.

Nor
Varagavank Mon.

Sanahin Mon.

Haghartzin 
Mon.

Goshavank Mon.

Khuchap
Mon.

Argina Mon.

Vahramaberd fort.

Dzernak
fort.

Yergevanits
fort.

Kaputkogh fort.

Kumayri fort.

Haritchavank Mon.

Hogevank Mon.

Amberd fort.

Tegher Mon.

Geghard Mon.
(Ayrivank)

Havuts Tar Mon.
Vanevank Mon.

Makeniats Mon.

Khor Virap
Monastery

Garni

      Hovhannes-Karapet
                  Mon.

Hazarabyurats Mon.

Tanahat Mon.

Vorotnavank Mon.

Bgheno Noravank Mon.

Goris and
Khndzoresk

cave-settlements

Tatev Mon.

Yeritsvank Mon.

Vahanavank
       Mon.

Halidzor fort.

Baghatskar Mon.
Kajkert Mon.

Dzoravank Mon.

Khudaperin bridgesKrvaberd fort.

St.Gevorg Mon.

Amenaprkich Mon.

Amenayn Srbots Mon.

Yernjak fort.St.Karapet
Mon.

Surb Nshan
 Mon.

Astvatzatzin Mon.

St.Tovma Mon.

Karmirvank Mon.

Darashamb Surb
Stepanos Mon.

�e unique Armenian Medieval
khachkar-�eld of Old Jugha was

destroyed by Azerbaijan authoriries
in 2005-2006

Surb Khach Mon.

St.Stepanos Mon.

Geghi fort.

Hermon Mon.

Noravank Mon.

Gndevank Mon.

Tsakhats Kar Mon.

Saghmosavank Mon.
Hayravank

Mon.

Noratus
khachkar-�eld

Sevan Mon.
Kecharis Mon.

Ohanavank Mon.

Lmbatavank Mon.
Horomos Mon.

Khoshavank Mon.

Yereruyk Mon.

Ejmiatzin
Cathedral

Arutch
karavansaray

Sardarapat
Monument complex Metzamor - metallurgical

and observatorian complex
(4-3 th. B.C.)

ANI

LORI

Arakelots Mon.

Shoghavank Mon.

Tztiternavank Mon.

Astvatzatzin Mon.

Charekavank Mon.

Hreshtakapetats Mon.
Tzaghkotsavank Mon.

Dadivank Mon.

Khatravank Mon.

Gandzasar Mon.

Ghazanchetsots
       church

Vankasar Mon.

Mayraberd fort.

Aghjkaberd fort.

Amaras Mon.

Katarovank Mon.

Amutegh Mon.

Tovmasaberd fort.

Gtchavank Mon. Azokh cave

Shushi fort.

"We and our Mountains"

Kachaghakaberd fort.

Horekavank Mon.

Tzara Astvatzatzin Mon.

Levonaberd fort.

Yeghishe Arakyal
             Mon.Gyulistan fort.

Sulem karavansaray

Satanidar - paleolithic
settlement

Karahunj
observatory
(4 th. B.C.)

Lastiver rock

3196
2543

3548

3392

3906

3201

3348

Agh
stev

Vorotan

Voghji

 Araks

N
ak

hi
jev

an

H
agari

Karkar
Khachen

Trtu

Tr
tu

lake Parz

Sarsang res.

Akhurian

 Akhurian

Araks

K
as

ak

h

 H
ra

zd
an

Dzoraget

Pambak

D
ebed

Kura

Ar
git

chi

Araks

Arpa

Q

YEREVAN

MASIS (GREAT ARARAT) mountain

ABOVIAN

GAVAR

KAPAN

STEPANAKERT

AZERBAIJAN

NAKHICHEVAN
(Azerbaijan)

IRAN

ARMENIA

NAGORNO-KARABAKH

NAKHICHEVAN

GYUMRI
VANADZOR

ARTASHAT

SIS (SMALL ARARAT) mountain

ARAGATZ mnt

ARAILER mnt

ARTENI mnt

AZHDAHAK mnt

VARDENIS mnt

VAGHARSHAPAT

ARMAVIR

TALIN

TSOLAKERT (IGDIR)

MASIS

VEDI

MARTUNI
VARDENIS

YEGHEGNADZOR

VAYK

JERMOUK

SISIAN

KOVSAKAN
(ZANGELAN)

KUBATLU

HADRUT

BERDZOR
(LACHIN)

SHUSHI

MARTUNI

ASKERAN

AGHDAM

VARANDA
(FIZULI)

JRAKAN
(JEBRAIL)

HORATIS

MIJNAVAN

MEGHRI
AGARAK

JUGHA (JULFA)

JULFA VORDUAR (ORDUBAD)

KAJARAN

GORIS
SHARUR

ARARAT

YEGHVARD

APARAN

SPITAK

STEPANAVAN TUMANIAN

ARTIK

MARALIK

CHARENTSAVAN

TZAGHKADZOR SEVAN

DILIJAN

TCHAMBARAK

GETABAK

SHAKASHEN (KHANLAR)

SHAHUMIAN

MARGUSHEVAN

MARTAKERT

KARVATCHAR
(KELBAJAR)

KARHAT (DASHKESAN)

IJEVAN BERD

GAZAKH

NOYEMBERIANAKHTALA

AYRUM

LALVAR
TASHIR

NINOTZMINDA

AGHSTEV

TOVUZ

BYUREGHAVAN

ASHTARAK

Artzvashen
Áàðñóì Áàðóì

Getashen

Nrnadzor

Odzun

Ashotsk

Amasia

Byurakan

Oshakan

Areni

Znaberd

Yeraskhavan

Hankavan

HRAZDAN

ACHKASAR mnt
LALVAR mnt

ISHKHANASAR mnt

ARAMAZD mnt

KAPUTJUGH mnt

KHUSTUP mnt

MRAV mnt

G E O R G I A



Khojaly: The Moment of Truth

Armenian Cause Foundation	 Reprints – №2	 7

“As of February 25, there were 12 T-72 tanks, 12 
armored vehicles, 4 GRAD missile launchers, 40 
cannons and 2,500 soldiers in Aghdam. All this 
could have been directed at the Khojaly defense but 
no assistance was rendered.”

“Why not?”
“I don’t know. It was enough to open fire from the 

GRAD system. There was a sniper – Private Inchipi-
renko. He could have hit any target. Can you imag-
ine that? But it turned out that the GRAD system 
disappeared.”

“If I’m not mistaken, Tamerlan Garayev and Fah-
min Hajiyev were in Aghdam at the time…”

“Yes. And Tair Aliyev was the commander in 
charge of the entire Karabakh front. You say that 
I was appointed the Shushi military commandant. 
But I learned about that decree from a TV program. 
I had no documents, not a stamp, nor any norma-
tive act.”

During the Khojaly operation the minister 
of defense of Azerbaijan was Tair Aliyev, who 
had held this position for a very short period of 
time. In fact, over the course of six months in 
1991-1992 there were four ministers of defense 
in Azerbaijan, which, in itself, is nonsense for 
a warring state. The first defense minister was 
Soviet Army General Valeh Barshadly. Soon af-
ter he was replaced by Tajeddin Mehtiyev, who 
was forced to resign after the defeat in Karintak. 
Mehtiyev was replaced by Tair Aliyev. On March 
17, after the Khojaly operation and the resigna-
tion of President Mutalibov, Rasim Ghaziyev 
was appointed defense minister.

“After the capture of Khojaly, our troops found 11 
bodies of civilian residents, not counting, of course, 
the losses among the Azerbaijani military. Anoth-
er several hundred civilians – more precisely 734 
people – some of whom were Meskheti Turks, were 
brought to Stepanakert. By February 28 all the cap-
tive Khojaly residents had been handed over to the 
Azerbaijani side,” Melik-Shahnazaryan wrote.

The Meskheti Turks had been resettled in Kho-
jaly since 1989. Azerbaijan had gradually resettled 
about one thousand Meskheti Turks expelled from 
Uzbekistan in Khojaly, thus artificially increasing 
the population of the town. If in 1989 there were 
about 1,600 residents in Khojaly, in 1991 this 

number had reached 6,300, and that year Khojaly 
was given a status of a town. Political analyst Da-
vid Babayan says that according to the 1926 census 
Khojaly was a completely Armenian village with 
888 residents.

“In the 1950s Azerbaijanis began settling in Kho-
jaly and by the early 1960s an Azerbaijani village 
of Khojaly had emerged next to the Armenian one. 
By 1977, no one talked about the Armenian Kho-
jaly anymore. By 1989 Khojaly was already a com-
pletely Azerbaijani village with 1,661 Azerbaijani 
residents,” Babayan said.

The greatest human tragedy in the days of the 
Karabakh war was undoubtedly Khojaly. During 
no other military operation did so many civilians, 
including women and children, suffer as in Kho-
jaly. The actual number of the people killed is still 
debated today—differing figures are put forth and 
official Baku continues to use the Khojaly tragedy 
for its own political ends.

How many people were killed in Khojaly? Dif-
ferent numbers have been put forward at different 
times – from 200 to more than 600. Thomas de 
Vaal considers the number made public following 
the investigation conducted by the Azerbaijani 
parliament, 485 people, to be most realistic. This 
number includes all the people killed during the 
Khojaly operation, including those who froze to 
death during the escape.

A member of the parliamentary commission, 
Namik Aliyev, told the visiting Helsinki Watch 
team in April 1992 that 213 residents of Khojaly 
had been buried in Aghdam. Another official, 
Aydin Rasulov, assured the same team members 
that the number of civilians killed exceeded 300 

- not counting those who had frozen to death on 
the way to Aghdam. On February 27, 1992 the 
imam of the Aghdam mosque showed Ameri-
can journalist Thomas Goltz a list of 477 names 
of people killed. The same year Azerbaijani 
newspaper Ordu printed a list of 636 people 
killed in Khojaly.

On March 4, 1992 the Nagorno Karabakh par-
liament made the following statement: “The neu-
tralization of weapon installations of the Azerbai-
jani armed units and the unblocking of Nagorno 
Karabakh’s only airport near the village of Khojaly 
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… have prompted wide reaction from Azerbaijani 
and foreign mass media. The armed units of the 
National Army of Azerbaijan stationed in Khojaly 
had completely blocked the roads connecting the As-
keran region of NKR with the capital of the republic, 
and had periodically bombarded Stepanakert and 
other Armenian settlements with heavy artillery. It 
was possible to overcome the famine that had origi-
nated as a result of the blockade only by putting 
the airport into operation. Although the NKR self-
defense forces had left a corridor for the residents 
of Khojaly to leave the zone of military operations, 
a portion of the civilian population of the village 
didn’t avail itself of this opportunity. All of them – 
some 200 people - by their own wish and without 
any precondition were accompanied to the other 
side of the border. The Presidium of the Supreme 
Council of NKR once again declares its readiness to 
settle all the problems between Nagorno Karabakh 
and Azerbaijan exclusively by peaceful means, at a 
negotiating table.”

WHAT CHINGIZ MUSTAFAYEV 
FILMED

Azerbaijani cameraman Chingiz Mustafayev shot 
footage in the vicinity of Aghdam first on February 
29th and then on March 2nd. It was his footage that 
was shown at the extraordinary session of the Azer-
baijani parliament. The locality where Mustafayev 
had filmed the corpses was under Azerbaijani con-
trol, or more precisely, under the control of armed 
units of the Popular Front – this can be clearly seen 
from the footage. It is a fact that the corpses had 
been mutilated before the second time Mustafayev 
filmed on March 2nd. Mustafayev informed Mu-
talibov of this. It was President Mutalibov, inci-
dentally, who had sent him to film the scene. Ac-
cording to certain information, Mutalibov warned: 

“Chingiz, don’t say a word to anyone that something 
is wrong, or they will kill you.” The area where the 
corpses were mutilated was at a distance of a few 
hundred meters from the positions of the Popular 
Front and was easily controlled by snipers. Musta-
fayev simply would not have been able to film in 
those areas if they had they been under the control 
of the Karabakh forces.

A few months later Mustafayev was killed while 
doing routine filming inside a sector of military 
operations controlled by the military units of the 
Popular Front. Why he was killed is still debated. 
The Karabakh side insists that Mustafayev was a 
victim of Khojaly. Both Mutalibov and Mustafayev 
firmly believed that the Popular Front had tried to 
come to power by taking advantage of the Khojaly 
tragedy. This is what happened immediately after 
Khojaly, and what is more, it was Mustafayev’s 
footage that was used to accuse Mutalibov.

Tens of thousands of protesters gathered in 
front of the Azerbaijani parliament building to 
demand Ayaz Mutalibov’s resignation. During 
the March 5, 1992 extraordinary session of the 
Supreme Council of Azerbaijan, Elmira Kafarova 
submitted her resignation and the Dean of the 
Medical Department at Baku University, Yaghub 
Mamedov, was elected speaker of parliament. The 
demonstrators kept the parliament building un-
der siege, holding parliament members inside. 
Mutalibov called the unfolding events a “coup 
d’etat”. On March 6th he resigned and Mamedov 
became the acting president until the presidential 
election was held.

This is how Mutalibov commented on these 
events: “My resignation was forced. I had no inten-
tion of leaving but when I realized that everything 
had been scrupulously planned and the left and the 
right had united against the president I decided not 
to provoke confrontation.” The retired president 
believed that following his resignation the Kara-
bakh issue would be speculated on within the in-
ternal political struggle and the further spread of 
war would become irreversible. “The Popular Front 
blamed us for not being able to solve the Karabakh 
problem. And now they have to give the people as-
surances that they are able to solve it. There are 
two ways: either more resolute actions, since I was 
blamed for indecision, or a compromise…  Suppose, 
they succeed in uniting all our forces. In that case all 
this could turn into a large-scale war without any 
clarity regarding who is going to win, though no one 
in Azerbaijan wants to fight anymore.”

http://hetq.am/en/politics/xojalu/ 
March 05, 2007
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ANNEX I

Events in Khojaly and Near Agdam on February 25-27, 1992

KHOJALY IS ALSO OFTEN SPELLED AS XOCALI, KHODZHALY,  
KHOJALU, KHOCALU, KHOCALI, KHOCALY

AZERBAIJAN TURNED KHOJALY 
INTO A LAUNCH PAD FOR 

INDISCRIMINATE BOMBARDMENT 
OF KARABAKH

In 1991 and early 1992, Azerbaijan used an 
Azeri inhabited village of Khojaly in Nago-
rno Karabakh as a launching pad for indis-

criminate artillery and rocket fire on Stepanakert, 
the capital of the Nagorno Karabakh Repub-
lic (NKR), located only a short 15-minute drive 
from Khojaly. By the end of February 1992, in-
tensive fire from Khojaly and other Azeri military 
strongholds in Karabakh had killed 243 people, 
including 14 children and 37 women, and wound-
ed 491, including 53 children and 70 women. In 
addition, systematic and intense artillery and 
rocket fire against civilian targets in Stepanakert 
paralyzed the city, destroying hospitals, adminis-
trative buildings, schools, and homes. By control-
ling Khojaly, Azerbaijan also prohibited access to 
Karabakh’s airport, the only link with the outside 
world, which was used to bring food and medical 
aid. Furthermore, Khojaly was also used as a stag-
ing area for military offensives on Stepanakert 
and nearby Armenian-populated villages. Thus, 
Khojaly became a legitimate military target for 
Self-Defense Forces of the Nagorno Karabakh Re-
public.

LEGITIMATE TARGET FOR NKR 
SELF-DEFENSE UNITS

In early January 1992, Nagorno Karabakh au-
thorities decided to neutralize this military target 
and informed the Azeris. The NKR authorities also 
transmitted this information by radio, TV, loud-
speakers, leaflets and other methods to warn the 
Khojaly civilian population of the upcoming oper-

ation, giving the civilian population an opportuni-
ty to exit the area through a safe corridor. Azerbai-
jan’s leadership in Baku, as well as local authorities, 
and military commanders in Khojaly knew about 
the corridor, its width and direction. Both Azer-
baijani President Ayaz Mutalibov and Khojaly 
Mayor Elman Mamedov in their 1992 interviews 
confirmed this fact. During two weeks leading to 
the Khojaly operation, NKR Self-Defense Forces 
observed a mass exodus of the civilian population 
from Khojaly through the provided corridor (see 
on the map).

The operation to neutralize the Khojaly base 
of the Azeri armed forces began at 11:00 PM on 
February 25 and was successfully completed with-
in five hours. Nagorno Karabakh forces took full 
control of the area, killing dozens of military per-
sonnel during the operation. Unfortunately, 11 
civilians became unintended victims. About 700 
civilians and military surrendered to NKR Self-
Defense Forces. The captured civilians were re-
turned to Azerbaijan in the following days, while 
the military personnel was later exchanged for the 
Armenian military prisoners and civilian hostages 
held by Azerbaijan.

EVENTS ON THE TERRITORY 
CONTROLLED BY AZERBAIJAN, 

7 MILES FROM KHOJALY, AFTER THE 
KHOJALY OPERATION WAS OVER

When the military operation began in Khojaly, 
a large group of civilians and armed military per-
sonnel from Khojaly used the provided humani-
tarian corridor to exit the battlefield and began 
moving in the direction of the Azeri- controlled 
Agdam. Near Nakhichevanik village of Karabakh 
(outside of the provided corridor), the group pro-
voked a gun battle with the defenders of Nakh-
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ichevanik, which resulted in numerous death on 
both sides. On February 28 and early March 1992, 
in the area then fully controlled by Azerbaijan, 
Azerbaijani and Turkish journalists videotaped 
images of the hundreds of killed and, during the 
second video shooting session, also mutilated 
bodies. 

Since then, official Baku has falsified the events 
and used the human tragedy to persistently fan 
anti-Armenian hysteria to demonize the Arme-
nian people in the eyes of the Azeris and the inter-
national community. It used the images to incite 
anti-Armenian sentiment and intolerance, which 
resulted in murders and calls from Azeris to wipe 
out Armenians as an ethnic group.

CONCLUSION
Responsibility for the tragic loss of civilian life 

on February 26-27, 1992 on the outskirts of Ag-
dam, territory fully controlled by Azeri forces, lies 
with the political and military leadership of Azer-
baijan.

First, the Azeri leadership used the territory of 
Khojaly for indiscriminate artillery attacks on ci-
vilian targets, thus turning the town into a legiti-
mate military target for NKR Self-Defense Forces.

Second, the Azeri leadership intentionally pre-
vented the civilian population from leaving the 
militarized village.

Third, the Azeri leadership failed to safely relo-
cate civilians from Khojaly after public warnings 
of upcoming military operation, although it had 
many opportunities to do so.

Fourth, retreating Azeri forces provoked an ex-
change of fire with NKR Self-Defense Forces some 
five miles from Khojaly, which resulted in losses 
on both sides.

Fifth, those who had continued, full access to 
the site of reported close-range, mass killing are 
responsible for it. The reported killing of hundreds 
of civilians with incidences of barbaric mutilation 
of bodies took place near Agdam (some seven 
miles from Khojaly), on the territory controlled by 
Azeri forces. Free access to the site by Azeri and 
Turkish journalists is clear evidence to that end.

In addition, Azerbaijan continues to create 
ground for a prolonged human tragedy by incit-
ing anti-Armenian sentiments and intolerance in 
Azeri society. Such a policy stalls efforts to build 
bridges between Armenian and Azeri people 
and achieve eventual, long-lasting peace between 
Azerbaijan and Nagorno Karabakh.

Background data, journalistic investigation and academic 
research materials to support the above information are 
available at the NKR Office in Washington, DC, and can be 
provided on-demand.  
http://www.nkrusa.org
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ANNEX II

Letter dated 8 March 2005  
from the Permanent Representative of Armenia  

to the United Nations  
addressed to the Secretary-General

I am writing in response to the letter dated 24 
February 2005 from the Permanent Repre-
sentative of Azerbaijan to the United Nations 

regarding the tragedy in Khojaly, circulated as a 
document of the General Assembly and the Secu-
rity Council (A/59/713-S/2005/125). In a pattern 
that is as familiar as it is abhorrent, the Ambassa-
dor of Azerbaijan has once again engaged in dis-
seminating fabricated and totally misleading infor-
mation about the tragedy in Khojaly aimed only at 
concealing the truth and the policy of massacres 
of Armenians meticulously planned and carried 
out by its leadership from 1988 to 1990 in Sumgait, 
Kirovabad (Ganja) and Baku. 

In an effort that has become the trademark of 
the Azerbaijani leadership and has been elevated 
to State policy, the Permanent Representative of 
Azerbaijan puts forward distorted and ground-
less accusations against my country, convenient-
ly forgetting that the events of those years were 
clearly documented through eyewitness testi-
monies, and the Azerbaijani ones among them 
(see annex).

As Armenia has stated on multiple occasions, 
and as I would like to reiterate here, the armed 
forces of the Republic of Armenia have never par-
ticipated in the conflict in and around Nagorno 
Karabagh. Moreover, no armed forces of the newly 
independent Armenia could have participated at 
the events in Khojaly as those forces had not been 
formed yet in February of 1992. 

As despicable as it may seem, and immoral as 
it may sound, the manipulation of the memory 
of the victims and the suffering of those who sur-
vived has become the main tool of the Azerbaijani 
machinery in a vain effort to disguise its inepti-
tude and unpreparedness to seriously negotiate a 

peace agreement that would end the conflict. As 
for the truth in Khojaly, it is clearly demonstrated 
in the accounts of Azerbaijanis covering the event 
and dealing with it. In an interview with the Czech 
journalist Jana Mazalova in March of 1992, the 
then President of Azerbaijan stated: “The massa-
cres were staged”.

With regard to the unsubstantiated allegation 
of “ethnic cleansing” against Armenia and Arme-
nians, I would like to present only one example, 
which speaks for itself. According to the Soviet 
census of 1926, Khojaly was an entirely Armenian 
village with 888 inhabitants. In the 1960s, the first 
Azerbaijani inhabitants appeared in the Armenian 
Khojaly. In 1988, the last Armenians were brutally 
killed and driven out of Khojaly. According to the 
1989 census, Khojaly was an entirely Azerbaijani 
village with 1,661 inhabitants. As stated by Arif 
Yunusov in Tragediya Khodjaly (The Tragedy of 
Khojaly) in Zerkalo, from 13 to 19 June 1992, 
Khojaly was the focus of a large Azerbaijani reset-
tlement programme (Thomas de Waal, Black Gar-
den, Armenia and Azerbaijan through Peace and 
War, New York University Press, 2003, p. 170). 
The policy and ideology behind it was revealed by 
Heydar Aliyev, the late President of Azerbaijan, 
in his meeting with Azerbaijani journalists on 22 
July 2002: “I was changing the demographic situa-
tion in Nagorno Karabagh”.

I should be grateful if you would have the pres-
ent letter and its annex circulated as a document 
of the fifty-ninth session of the General Assem-
bly, under agenda item 163, and of the Security 
Council. 

(Signed) Armen Martirosyan
Ambassador

Permanent Representative
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The Truth About the Events in Khojaly

Evidence From Azerbaijani Sources 
Annex to the letter dated 8 March 2005 from the Permanent Representative of Armenia  

addressed to the Secretary-General of the United Nations

For nine years after the events in Khojaly of-
ficial Baku has been obstinately fanning anti-
Armenian hysteria with the aim of falsifying 

real events and discrediting the Armenian people in 
the eyes of the international community.

The events in Khojaly, which led to the death 
of civilians, were the results solely of political in-
trigues and a struggle for power in Azerbaijan.

The real reasons are most convincingly reflected 
in the accounts of Azerbaijanis themselves - as 
participants in and eyewitnesses of what happened 
- as well as of those who know the whole inside 
story of the events in Baku.

According to Azerbaijani journalist M. Safaro-
gly, “Khojaly occupied an important strategic posi-
tion. The loss of Khojaly was a political fiasco for 
Mutalibov”1.

Khojaly, along with Shushi and Agdam, was one 
of the main strongholds from which Stepanakert, 
the capital of the Nagorno Karabakh Republic, 
was shelled continuously and mercilessly for three 
winter months using artillery and missiles and 
launchers for targeting cities.

Knocking out the weapon emplacements in 
Khojaly and freeing the airport were the only way 
for the inhabitants of the Nagorno Karabakh Re-
public to ensure the physical survival of a popu-
lation condemned by Azerbaijan to complete an-
nihilation. The daily shelling of Stepanakert from 
nearby Khojaly took the lives of peaceful inhabit-
ants - women, children and old people.

Former President of Azerbaijan, Ayaz Mutali-
bov, has emphasized that “… the assault on Kho-
jaly was not a surprise attack”2. In a “Nezavisimaya 
gazeta” newspaper interview he stated that “a cor-
ridor was kept open by the Armenians for people 

1	 “Nezavisimaya gazeta” newspaper, February 1993
2	 “Ogonek” magazine, Nos. 14-15, 1992

to leave”3. However, a column of civilians was fired 
on by armed units of the Popular Front of Azer-
baijan on the approaches to the Agdam district 
border, a fact later confirmed by Ayaz Mutalibov, 
who linked this criminal act to attempts by the op-
position to remove him from power, and blamed it 
entirely for what happened.

In his recent interview with the “Novoye vre-
mya” magazine, Mutalibov confirms his statement 
of nine year ago: “The shooting of the Khojaly resi-
dents was obviously organized by someone to take 
control in Azerbaijan”4.

Similar comments and views concerning the 
events in Khojaly are known to have been made 
by several other highly-placed Azerbaijani officials 
and journalists.

There is, moreover, the conclusion of Azerbai-
jani journalist Arif Yunusov, which differs some-
what from the previous statements: “The town and 
its inhabitants were deliberately sacrificed for a 
political purpose - to prevent the Popular Front of 
Azerbaijan from coming to power”5. In this case, 
though, the Azerbaijanis themselves are named as 
the perpetrators of the tragedy.

What resulted from the betrayal of the inhabit-
ants of Khojaly by their own highly placed compa-
triots is well known. Azerbaijani propaganda has 
railed to the whole world about the “atrocities of 
the Armenians”, supplying television stations with 
horrendous pictures of a field strewn with muti-
lated bodies. Khojaly is claimed to have been the 
“Armenians’ revenge for Sumgait”.

Tamerlan Karayev, at one time Chairman of 
the Supreme Council of the Azerbaijan Republic, 
bears witness: “The tragedy was committed by 

3	 “Nezavisimaya gazeta” newspaper, 2 April 1992
4	 “Novoye vremya” magazine, 6 March 2001
5	 “Zerkalo” newspaper, July 1992
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the authorities of Azerbaijan”, and specifically by 
“someone highly placed”6.

The Czech journalist Jana Mazalova, who by an 
oversight of the Azerbaijanis was included in both 
of the groups of press representatives to be shown 
the “bodies mutilated by the Armenians”, noted a 
substantial difference in the two cases. When she 
went to the scene immediately after the events, 
Mazalova did not see any traces of barbarous treat-
ment of the bodies. Yet a couple of days later the 
journalists were shown disfigured bodies already 
“prepared” for pictures.

Who killed the peaceful inhabitants of Khojaly 
and then mutilated their bodies, if the tragedy oc-
curred not in a village taken by Armenians or on 
the route of the humanitarian corridor, but on the 
approaches to the town of Agdam – on territory 
fully controlled by the Popular Front of Azerbai-
jan?

The independent Azerbaijani cameraman Ch-
ingiz Mustafayev, who took pictures on 28 Feb-
ruary and 2 March 1992, had doubts about the 
official Azerbaijani version and began his own 
inquiry. The journalist’s very first report to the 
Moscow news agency “D-press” on the possible 
complicity of the Azerbaijani side in the crimes 
cost Mustafayev his life: he was killed nor far 
from Agdam, under circumstances that are still 
unexplained.

The current President of Azerbaijan, Hey-
dar Aliyev, himself recognized that Azetbaijan’s 
“former leadership was also guilty” of events in 
Khojaly. Already in April 1992, according to the 
agency Bilik-Dunyasy, he had commented as fol-
lows: “The bloodshed will be to our advantage. We 
should not interfere in the course of events”. To 
whose “advantage” was the bloodshed is clear to 
everyone. “Megapolis-Express” wrote: “It cannot 

6	 “Mukhalifat” newspaper, 28 April 1992

be denied that if the Popular Front of Azerbaijan 
actually set far-reaching objectives, they have been 
achieved. Mutalibov has been compromised and 
overthrown, public opinion worldwide has been 
shaken, and the Azerbaijanis and their Turkish 
brethren have believed in the so-called “genocide 
of the Azerbaijani people in Khojaly”7.

One other tragic detail. It has become clear since 
the events that 47 Armenian hostages were already 
being held on 26 February in “peaceful” Khojaly, 
a fact that the Azerbaijani mass media “covering” 
the tragedy have failed to mention. After the lib-
eration of Khojaly only 13 hostages (including 6 
woman and 1 child) were found there, the other 
34 having been taken away by the Azerbaijanis 
to an unknown location. The only thing known 
about them is that they were led from the village 
on the night of the operation, but never reached 
Agdam. There is still no information concerning 
what eventually happened to them or confirming 
that they continued to be held captive by the Azer-
baijanis.

Obviously, those who wanted to create the im-
pression that bodies had been mutilated by the Ar-
menians first of all disfigured the bodies of those 
same Armenian hostages, in order to make it im-
possible to identify them. Precisely for that pur-
pose the outer clothing was removed from many of 
the bodies and precisely for that reason the bodies 
of the unfortunate victims were damaged so badly 
that they became unrecognizable.

In the light of the above facts it may confidently 
be said that the killing of peaceful inhabitants of 
the village of Khojaly and of the Armenian hostag-
es being held there was the work of the Azerbaijani 
side, which committed this crime against its own 
people in the name of political intrigues and the 
struggle for power.

7	 “Megapolis-Express”, No. 17, 1992
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